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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

PAMELA HERRINGTON, both individually and
behalf of all other similarly situated persons,

Plaintiffs,
Case No.: 3:11-cv-00779
V.

WATERSTONE MORTGAGE CORPORATION,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO D  ISMISS
(DOC. 13)

The arbitration clause that WMC imposed on its leyges as a condition of
employment, states:

This Agreement is made and entered into in the $faiVisconsin and shall in all respects be
interpreted, enforced, and governed by and in daooe with the laws of the State of
Wisconsin. In the event that the parties cannatlvesa dispute by the ADR provisions
contained herein, any dispute between the parbesetning the wages, hours, working
conditions, terms, rights, responsibilities or gations between them or arising out of their
employment relationship shall be resolved througtibg arbitration in accordance with the
rules of the American Arbitration Association apgpble to employment claims. Such
arbitration may not be joined with or join or indkiany claims by any persons not party to
this Agreement. Except as otherwise set forth hetieé parties will share equally in the cost
of such Arbitration, and shall be responsible @it own attorneys’ fees, provided that if the
Arbitration is brought pursuant to any statutosjral for which attorneys’ fees were expressly
recoverable, the Arbitrator shall award such a#tgshfees and costs consistent with the
statute at issue. Nothing herein shall precludearlydfrom seeing temporary injunctive
relief in a court of competent jurisdiction to peew irreparable harm, pending any ruling
obtained through Arbitration. Further, nothing herghall preclude or limit Employee from
filing any complaint or charge with a State, FetlemaComity agency. By execution of this
Agreement, the parties are consenting to persanadljction and venue in Wisconsin with
respect to matters concerning the employmentoekttip between them.

This self-serving clause should not be enforcecatdeast 3 reasons. First, it imposes excessive
costs on Plaintiffs Herrington who simply canndioed to pay one half of all arbitral costs to
advance her FLSA claims. Second, the clause pitshidanployees from proceeding on a
collective action basis, thereby subverting theomrgment scheme crafted by Congress in the

FLSA. Third, the class and collective action wasvare unlawful bans on concerted activity in
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violation of NLRA 87 and 8(a). This unlawful arlsition clause cannot be enforced by this
Court.
POINT ONE
WMC’'S REQUIREMENT THAT PLAINTIFFS INDIVIDUALLY PAY % OF EACH
INDIVIDUAL ARBITRATION RENDERS THE ARBITRATION CLAU  SE
UNENFORCEABLE.

The arbitration clause drafted by WMC, Section &3ignates the American Arbitration
Association (AAA) the arbitration provider. Thatctien of the employment agreement also
taxes Plaintiffs for one half of WMC's arbitratiarosts. The AAA’'s Employment Rules limit
employee costs to $175 for “employer promulgatediiteation clauses such as this one.
Nevertheless, WMC insists that Plaintiffs pay haflfall arbitral costs through Section 13, by
writing its arbitration clause to say that “the ts will share equally in the cost of such
Arbitration.” By this clause, WMC effectively taxesmployees for its own arbitral expenses.
This insistence that employees pay for WMC'’s aabitiosts is unenforceable under the FAA,
particularly against the sub-minimum wage earnitegnff here.

Under the AAA Employment Rules, the employer must the vast bulk of the filing fee
($975 for employer and $175 for an employee) ared émployer must also pay the AAA’s
various fees as well as all of the arbitrator'simas expenses and fe&sx. 1, AAA Employment
Rules.WMC, however, exempts itself from the AAA’s reqgnnents and shifts half its costs onto
Plaintiffs. Thus, WMC taxes an employee for brimgginlaims against it, by requiring the
employee to bear half of WMC'’s expenses. Not oht,tWMC'’s clause effectively evades the
AAA’s hardship deferral and waiver processes, st tlo matter how poor a claimant is, she will
still have to pay half of the Bank’s arbitrationst& Plaintiff Herrington cannot afford WMC'’s

assessment of fees to bring this FLSA case.
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A. Herrington Cannot Afford to Arbitrate Her Claims Wi th Defendant’s Taxation
of Its Expenses.

Ms. Herrington is a poor person. She has signifidabts, but has no savings, no income,
no appreciable assets and no means by which toopayhalf of WMC’s costsHerrington
Declaration, Ex. 2 heretdn brief, Ms. Herrington, is a 64 year old womaino is working, but
not currently earning any income from that woldk, 1. She is subsisting on food provided
through the charity of friendsd., 12. Her monthly expenses total approximately $2839 siral
partially offsets those expenses through boardihgrae, allowing the sublease of a trailer, and
through early withdrawal of social security (whitdgether total $2,171), not enough to pay her
monthly bills.ld., 119-14.She has unpaid debts of $4,000 to the IRS, $48tettrash collection
company, and $1820 in student loalds, 1912-14.Working for sub-minimum wages for WMC
depleted her savinghl.,{15.She now has $26.27 in her bank account and nemsint savings.
Id.,116-17. Plaintiff Herrington cannot afford the expenses fanbitration that WMC'’s
arbitration clause taxes to h&oc. 13-1 13.

WMC has no similar problems, to say the least. WM@erates in twelve states.
According to its website WMC is “southeastern Wisconsin’s largest mortgegeler with more
than $1.1 billion in annual origination volume. \& a wholly owned subsidiary of WaterStone
Bank SSB (NASDAQ: WSBF) with assets of more tharv3illion.” Despite WMC'’s financial
might, it intends to tax its subminimum wage eagnmorkers to cover WMC'’s costs in the
arbitral forum upon which it insists. Never mindatht would only cost all Plaintiffs a total of
$350 to bring their class and collective actioranrt. In arbitration, WMC insists that the action

be brought individually and that each such clainmanst bear one-half of WMC'’s arbitral costs.

Thus, through the arbitration clause, WMC makes ttital cost of such claims far more

expensive_and then shifts half of these expensgs the claimants. While WMC can clearly

! Ex. 3, http://www.waterstonemortgage.com/About-g¥stone-Mortgage/
3
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withstand this increased cost, Plaintiff Herringttamnot. Like a rich poker player raising the
stakes on a hapless opponent, WMC makes bringiRgSA case too expensive for its sub-
minimum wage earning employees to even consided. g WMC will have secured for itself
immunity from prosecution for its FLSA minimum wagelations, which is exactly what it
seeks to accomplish with its arbitration clausejritiemnification clause, and its claim for fees.
The Supreme Court has stated that arbitrationdsable as an alternative to litigation
in court because it is simply a “different forum”r® with somewhat different and simplified
rules—but nonetheless one in which the basic mesmsnfor obtaining justice permit a party to
“effectively vindicate” his or her right€.g., Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Coff0 U.S.
20, 28 (1991)Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouthe., 473 U.S. 614, 637
(1985)(“[S]o long as the prospective litigant effeely may vindicate [his or her] statutory cause
of action in the arbitral forum, the statute witintinue to serve both its remedial and deterrent
function”). That said, the Supreme Court has alstognized that “[tlhe existence of large
arbitration costs could preclude a litigant ...nfreffectively vindicating her federal statutory
rights in the arbitral forum.Green Tree Financial Corp. v. Randol@31 U.S. 79, 90 (2000).
In such cases, the underlying justification fordiag parties to an arbitral forum is lost and such
agreements are unenforceable under the F&&e, e.g., Circuit City v. Adan/9 F.3d 889,
894 (9" Cir. 2002) (requiring employee to pay any portisharbitrator’s fees would deter
employees from vindicating their rights renderimpimation agreement unenforceable). As
Green Treamakes clear, whether the fees are sufficientlytgedeter litigants from vindicating
their statutory rights is a question to be decideder the FAA principles; it is not, properly
speaking, a question to be analyzed under theipl&scof unconscionability.ld., 531 U.S. at
90-92;see, e.g. Camacho v. Holiday Homes, 1167 F.Supp.2d 892, 896 n. 2 (W.D. Va. 2001).
The Seventh Circuit follows a case by case appraacdetermining when arbitration costs will

render an arbitration clause unenforceable:
4
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While there is no bright line for when the costsagsated with arbitration will be

prohibitive, we have outlined the showing a partystrmake when it seeks to invalidate

an arbitration agreement on those grouddsnes v. McDonald's Corp4l7 F.3d 672,

678-80 (7th Cir. 2005). Idameswe looked for evidence on two pertinent questions:

first, how the party's financial situation will “bfactored into an assessment of the

arbitration costs under this hardship provisionig @econd, how the costs will compare

between litigating in the courts versus proceedingrbitration.ld. at 679-80.

Baumann v. Finish Line, Inc421 Fed.Appx. 632, 635, 2011 WL 1627159, *3 (Cith 2011);
James v. McDonald's Corp4l7 F.3d 672, 678-80 (7th Cir. 2005). Here, Pifightindividual
financial situations will not be “factored” in ali.ald. While the AAA has hardship cost deferral
procedures, the AAA’s employment rules cost prarisiare supplanted by the arbitration clause
here which taxes Plaintiffs for WMC'’s arbitratiosels, regardless of financial situation.

Similar to the Seventh Circuit, many Courts haveiel@ arbitration when an employer’s
clause would result in large arbitration costs lyastexcess of those that would obtain in Court.
In Morrison v. Circuit City Stores317 F.3d 636, 669-670, 676-678"(6ir. 2003)(en banc), the
Sixth Circuit held that arbitration was unenfordealvhen the costs of arbitration “would deter a
substantial number of employees similarly situated from seeking to vindicate their statutory
claims.”Id. at 669, 676. IfPaladino v. Avnet Computer Technologies 1884 F.3d 1054 (11
Cir. 1998), the Court held arbitration invalid whemployee may be liable for at least half of the
“hefty” cost of arbitration with the AAA. IrCole v Burns Internantional Sec. Svcd05 F.3d
1465 (DC Cir. 1997), the Court held employees cauddl be required to arbitrate statutory
claims as a condition of employee if they would énéw pay all or part of the arbitrator’s fees or
expenses and that fees of $500 to $1,000 per dayidwiee prohibitively expensive for
employees, when such amounts would be unlike amyttiey would have to pay in CouBee

also, Shankle v. B-G Maintenance Management of Colorddo, 163 F.3d 1230 (1D Cir.

1999) (agreement that imposed costs of $1875 td@®5En janitorial shift manager was
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unenforceablej.

Under the Seventh Circuit's holdings Baumann v. Finish Line, Inc421 Fed.AppxX.
632, 635, 2011 WL 1627159, *3 (7th Cir. 2011) aadnes v. McDonald's Corpdl7 F.3d 672,
678-80 (7th Cir. 2005), as well as numerous otbheh sases around the country, the fact that
each of the Plaintiffs must pay one half of allsfesnd costs necessary to pursue arbitrations
individually, instead of paying only $350 to pursailé claims in Court, makes the arbitration
clause unenforceable.

B. The Arbitration Expenses Will Be Significant and Bgond Herrington’s Ability
to Pay.

In the present case, the AAA’s filing fees, adntimaisve fees, and the arbitrator’s
deposit, daily rate and expenses are likely to igeifgcant. Arbitrators in Wisconsin charge
between $200 to $285 per hour. Ex. 4. Under the AAd&mployment arbitration rules for
employer promulgated plans, the total fees ardyliteebe as follows:

1. Filing fee: $1,100 ($925 due from the employer &tl’'5 due from the
employee)®

2. Hearing fee per day: $1,500 (5 dags $300 per day).

2 Numerous District Courts reach the same reSele e.gCamacho v. Holiday Homes, In¢67
F.Supp.2d 892, 896-897 (W.D.Va. 2001)($2000 fandjlfees held excessive, and even if waiver
available, deposit, estimated at $600 to $4100, evemigh to render the arbitration agreement
unenforceable)Wernett v. Service Phoenix, LLBo. 09-168-TUC-CKJ2009 WL 1955612, *7
(D.AZ July 6, 2009) (arbitration agreement that emko provision for reducing or deferring
fees for plaintiff of “limited income” is unenforaéle); Rodriguez v. Wet Ink, LL&o. 08-cv-
00857-MSK-CBS, 2011 WL 1059541 (D.Colo. March 2P1?) (agreement that required a
plaintiff to pay more than she earns in a weekaf@ingle hour of arbitration is unenforceable);
Arnold v. Goldstar FinancialNo. 01 C 76942002 WL 1941546 (N.D. lll. Aug 22, 2002)
($2250 in costs is prohibitive for plaintiffs wittebt problems)Giordono v. Pep Boy$yo. CIV.

A. 99-1281,2001 WL 484360 (E.D.Pa. March 29, 2001) (where npifii earned $400/wk,
requiring payment of $2000 filing fee and $600-$%@0a day of arbitration was “an easy case”
for finding agreement unenforceable).

3 AAA Empl. Arb. Rules attached as Ex. 1.

* Plaintiffs assume a 5 day hearing per individinmyvever this is speculative and could be
higher. It is not possible to know how many days #mployer will take for its case and a
6
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3. Arbitrator's Daily rate: $19,950. This amount idatdated by assuming arbitrator
rates of $285 per hour, for a 5 day hearing andraggy an equal amount for pre-
hearing motion practice and post-hearing consiaerand drafting time (7 hrs x
$285/hr x 10 = $19,950).
4. Arbitrator's Expenses for room, transcripts, e,080 (counsel’s estimate).
5. Final AAA fee of $300.
Using these figures leads to a total expected fowdboth sides of $27,850, one half of which
would be approximately $13,926etman Decl. Ex. 5 heretdnd of course, while the total costs
could be lower than the estimated amount, theydcaldo be higher and these costs actually
cannot be known in advance. Thus, in order to lreclaims heard, a Plaintiff must agree to
stake the full amount, not even knowing just howhhthe charges will run. Every dispute
generated by the employer costs the Plaintiffs moomey. Plaintiff Herrington here has no
money to put toward arbitration. Any amount sheeiguired to pay means she simply cannot
bring her case.

And the amount of the arbitral expense is disprogaate. Herrington has estimated her
claims at approximately $17,008eePre-litigation demand, Ex. 4. Thus, WMC’s arbitoati
clause demanding that Plaintiffs pay $13,925 orarisrprohibitive. Obviously, no person in
their right mind would risk $14,000 in expenses,reéheto press a claim to obtain roughly
$17,000 in damages. The high cost of this arbitratiastly exceeds the costs that Plaintiff must
bear to bring her claims to court ($350). And iru@pPlaintiffs could resolve all of their claims

collectively for the same $350 and achieve the aastings for representation by a single

attorney on a collective basis. “A collective aatiallows [FLSA] plaintiffs the advantage of

Plaintiff going down the arbitration road, wouldvieato advance the filing fees and arbitrator’s
deposit knowing only that an employer wishing ta up the costs could do so easily. Plaintiffs
estimate five days as follows (a day for the Pl#iherself, 2 half days for two other employee
witnesses, and a day for the various employer’'esigors who would not allow correct entry of
time. Additionally it is likely that several formesupervisors will be called to testify as to the
employer’s pay practices.) Then Plaintiffs assuhs the employer will call at least as many
witnesses, and likely more. Thus a 5 day hearirmxisemely optimistic.
7
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lower individual costs to vindicate rights by theofing of resources. The judicial system
benefits by efficient resolution in one proceedaiggommon issues of law and fact arising from
the same alleged discriminatory activitydbffmann-La Roche Inc. v. Sperlimgp3 U.S. 165,
170 (1989)(ADEA case discussing same collectivéoactights within FLSA). Even if the
arbitral costs were not out of proportion with ttesults she seeks, Plaintiff Herrington here
simply cannot pay the arbitration costs WMC demaoti$ier. She has no money to put to
arbitration.

WMC's taxation of Plaintiffs with its arbitral castrenders this arbitration clause
unenforceable. Arbitration is now not simply a difnt forum for hearing her claims — through
WMC'’s taxation of costs, it is prohibitively expewves and therefor is an unavailable forum.
Green Tree Financial Corp. v. Randolpb31 U.S. 79, 90 (2000Baumann v. Finish Line,
Inc.,421 Fed.Appx. 632, 635, 2011 WL 1627159, *3 (7tin. 011); James v. McDonald's
Corp.,417 F.3d 672, 678-80 (7th Cir. 2005). Becauseihigion cannot afford to arbitrate her
claims, she will likely have to dismiss them if sisesent to arbitration. WMC cannot obtain
enforcement of an arbitration clause when to deveold mean that it obtains absolution from
having claims made against it at &aumann421 Fed.Appx. at 635, 2011 WL 1627159, *3;
James417 F.3d at 678-80.

POINT TWO

WMC'S COLLECTIVE ACTION WAIVER SUBVERTS THE CONGRES SIONAL
PURPOSES UNDERLYING THE FLSA.

A. The FLSA Precludes An Employer “Negotiating” TermsSet By Law.
With the FLSA, enacted in 1938, Congress radicalhfted the playing field for

employees and employetsor the first time, employment in the U.S. woulat be left to the

> On June 25, 1938, Congress enacted the FLSA jrgeaiminimum standard for hourly wages
and a maximum number of hours an employee couldk weithout receiving overtime

compensation. 29 U.S.C. 88 206, 207. The FLSA wasted to eliminate labor conditions that
8
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unregulated negotiating power of employers and eygads, with the resulting terms inevitably
set by the more powerful employers. Employers anpleyees were no longer able to “bargain”
over every term of employment. Instead, the FLS#ns¢ionwide terms based on federal policy
(relating to minimum wage, overtime, and child IBbaall designed to remedy perceived
inadequacies in the “marketplace” where labor amgbital individually and collectively
otherwise “bargained” over work terms. In practites meant that no longer would terms be set
solely by an employer and presented to employeestake it or leave it basiSee e.g. Tony &
Susan Alamo Found. v. Sec'y of Lakbf]l U.S. 290, 302 (1985).

Since the FLSA precludes negotiation between engptognd employees about certain
terms of employment, the Supreme Court has replgatednd that FLSA rights may not be
“waived” by an employeeSee Brooklyn Sav. Bank v. O'N8i24 U.S. 697, 707 (1945) (“No one
can doubt but that to allow waiver of statutory esdpy agreement would nullify the purposes of
the Act.”); D.A. Shulte, Inc. v. Gang28 U.S. 108 (1946). In Section 216, the very sacthat
establishes the collective action and fee shiffimgresses, Congress specified that the only way
an employee may waive her FLSA rights is to do rsten supervision of the U.S. Department of
Labor. 29 U.S.C. §216(c). lhony & Susan Alamo Found. v. Sec'y of Laldar. U.S. 290, 302
(1985), the Supreme Court noted that “the purpo$éise [FLSA] require that it be applied even
to those who would decline its protections” andtoared:

If an exception to the Act were carved out for emypes willing to testify that they

performed work “voluntarily,” employers might belalio use superior bargaining power
to coerce employees to make such assertions,waaite their protections under the Act.

are detrimental to the health, efficiency, and geneelfare of workers. 29 U.S.C. §202. The
Act specifically forbids employers and employeesafgree to terms which are deemed in
violation of the minimum statutory requirements.his message to Congress urging passage of
the Act, President Roosevelt explained that theigehtended to ensure workers “a fair day’'s
pay for a fair day’s work” because “[a] self-supjog and self-respecting democracy can plead
no ... economic reason for chiseling workers’ wagestretching workers’ hours.” H.R. Rep.
No. 101-260, at 8-9 (Sept. 26, 1989)(reprinteddBAU.S.C.C.A.N. 696, 696-97).
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Cf. Barrentine v. Arkansas-Best Freight System,, 40 U.S. 728, 101 S.Ct. 1437, 67

L.Ed.2d 641 (1981)Brooklyn Savings Bank v. O'Ne824 U.S. 697, 65 S.Ct. 895, 89

L.Ed. 1296 (1945). Such exceptions to coverage evadlect many more people than

those workers directly at issue in this case andldvdoe likely to exert a general

downward pressure on wages in competing businesses.
Id., at 302.Thus the Supreme Court, interpreting Congresséniidans as set forth in the FLSA,
prohibits employees from declining statutory cogeréd.

B. The Goals of the FLSA.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that tis&'BLpurpose is to make sure ALL
covered workers are paid minimum wage and overfionehours over forty. The principal
congressional purpose in enacting the FLSA was torqtect all covered workers from
substandard wages and oppressive working hoursfand to ensure that employees] would be
protected from the evil of 'overwork' as well asdarpay."Barrentine v. Arkansas Best Freight
System, In¢.450 U.S. 728, 739 (1981)(citations omitted andolemadded). The FLSA was
designed ™to extend the frontiers of social pregteby ‘nsuring to all our able-bodied
working men and women a fair day's pay for a fair é&y's work." ..." A.H. Phillips v. Walling
324 U.S. 490, 493 (1945)(emph. addeSge also U.S. v. Rosenwassgé?3 U.S. 360, 363
(1945)("'no doubt as to the Congressional intention to inclile all employees within the scope
of the Act unless specifically excludet)(emph. added). Applying the FLSA to “all” affecte
workers protects employees from being undercuttbgreemployees willing to work for less and
protects law abiding employers from being underoytunscrupulous employers willing to

violate the lawSee Tony & Susan Alamo Found. v. Sec'y of Latxdr,U.S. 290, 302 (1985).

C. The Collective Action Process and Other FLSA Procades Are Necessary To
Implement the Goals of the Statute.

Over the years, Congress has established detalledegures to make sure that
enforcement measures are adequate to ensure tipddyemviolations of the FLSA can be

remedied by affected workers. To make sure thatldlae was followed, Congress adopted

10
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several key provisions, allowing the DepartmentlLabor to do administrative and Court
enforcement, providing that employees can privaggiforce violations of the FLSA, providing
that employees can proceed with collective acti@sariant on class actions specific to the
FLSA and ADEA) as a “private attorney general,” uigilpg that an employer pay prevailing
workers’ attorneys’ fees and coStsnd establishing that FLSA rights could not bevedi
except under the supervision of the Departmentaijor. 29 U.S.C. 8216(c). The procedural
mechanisms by which FLSA enforcement is undertalkgn‘private attorneys general” are
integral to the Congressional purposestner v. Perry TownshjdNo. 3:03-cv-0455, 2005 WL
6573783, *3 (S.D.Ohio Dec. 30, 2005) (“the SixtlraQit has emphasized the private attorney
general theory of fee recovery: the importance mriging these [FLSA] cases, even if only
nominal damages, are recovered to vindicate empldgats and Congressional policy.”)

The collective action procedure in 29 U.S.C. 82)6(bplements the Congressional
purpose of comprehensive enforcement in at leastways. First, the Supreme Court has noted
that “A collective action allows [FLSA] plaintifishe advantage of lower individual costs to
vindicate rights by the pooling of resources. Tihdigial system benefits by efficient resolution
in one proceeding of common issues of law andddsing from the same alleged discriminatory
activity.” Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. v. Sperling93 U.S. 165, 170 (1989). The ability to bring a

collective action under the FLSA also overcometé“problem that small recoveries do not

® See United Slate, Tile and Composition Roofers, Dantd Waterproof Workers Ass'n, Local

307 v. G & M Roofing and Sheet Metal Co., I7T@2 F.2d 495, 501 -502 (6th Cir. 1984), where

the Court wrote:
The design of the [FLSA] is intended to rectify aetiminate “labor conditions
detrimental to the maintenance of the minimum saahdiving” for workers. 29 U.S.C. §
202(a). The availability*502 and award of attorrfegs under § 216(b) must reflect the
obvious congressional intent that the policies eratad in 8 202 be vindicated, at least
in part, through private lawsuits charging a viatof the substantive provisions of the
wage act. Moreover, the purpose of 8 216(b) imsure effective access to the judicial
process by providing attorney fees for prevailinirgiffs with wage and hour
grievances; “[o]bviously Congress intended that wWenged employee should receive
his full wages ... without incurring any expenselégal fees or costs”.

11
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provide the incentive for any individual to bringsalo action prosecuting his or her rights.”
Anchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsd21 U.S. 591, 617 (1997) (quotiMdace v. Van Ru Credit
Corp., 109 F.3d 338, 344 (7th Cir. 19978ee also Sutherland v. Ernst & Young | L#8
F.Supp.2d 547(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (“Corporations should not be peted to use class action
waivers as a means to exculpate themselves fraofityafor small-value claims.” (internal
quotations omitted)). By explicitly providing foine right to bring a collective action to enforce
FLSA rights to unpaid overtime compensation, Cosgtecognized that collective actions are a
unique remedy to redress unpaid overtime claimgroployees against employegkirchak v.
Dynamics Research Corb08 F.3d 49, 58 (1st Cir. 2007). Without thistgtiary right to band
together with similarly situated persons, many empés would be deprived of compensation
they have earned through their labor without angspmlity of redressRaniere v. Citigroup
Inc., No. 11 Civ. 2448, 2011 WL 5881926, *15-*17 (S.DYNNov. 22, 2011). The ability to
bring collective actions also encourages attorrteysake FLSA cases for larger groupings of
workers in situations where a single individual@ttor say a few thousand dollars, would seem
to be an ill-advised use of limited attorney tilrke.SA claims are generally small dollar claims
for minimum hourly wage and overtime. Practicalpeaking, there are not sufficient attorneys
to handle every small dollar FLSA claim for evendividual worker who is cheated, were
collective actions so easy to evade through atltralauses.

Second, FLSA collective actions allow workers tgrtheir claims while not being a
named plaintiff. And this is perhaps even more ingt than the cost savings that accrue
through joinder. As the Supreme Court has recognitear of employer reprisals will frequently
chill employees’ willingness to challenge employeislations of their rightsSee Mitchell v.
Robert De Mario Jewelry, Inc361 U.S. 288, 292 (1960) (“[l]t needs no arguntenghow that
fear of economic retaliation might often operaténiuce aggrieved employees quietly to accept

substandard conditions.”see also NLRB v. Robbins Tire & Rubber,CGt87 U.S. 214, 240
12
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(1978) (“The danger of witness intimidation is partarly acute with respect to current
employees ... over whom the employer, by virtu¢hef employment relationship, may exercise
intense leverage.”).

The collective action process allows workers tedif/ely sue their current employer and
have their claims heard, without taking a visibtder and without being perceived as the
ringleader, which the named plaintiff must do. Tisavhy almost all FLSA cases are brought by
former, rather than current employees. The Couwat& llong recognized the very real risks that
Plaintiffs endure, not just with their current emydr, but even with respect to an industry.
Employees have a reasonable fear that sticking tieeks out to collect the small sums due for
minimum wage violations could kill their professarcareers if it is known that they brought
litigation against their employemRaniere v. Citigroup IngNo. 11 Civ. 2448, 2011 WL
5881926, *15-*17 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011poes | thru XXIII v. Advanced Textile Coiil4
F.3d 1058 (¥ Cir. 2000)(permitting anonymous filings becauseisis to FLSA plaintiffs).

The recent decision of Judge SweeR@miere v. Citigroup In¢.No. 11 Civ. 2448, 2011
WL 5881926, *15-*17 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011), thdufylly discusses the importance of

collective actions to FLSA enforcement:

There are good reasons to hold that a waiver ofigfit to proceed collectively under the
FLSA is per se unenforceable—and different in Knoain waivers of the right to proceed
as a class under Rule 23. Collective actions utideFLSA are a unique animal. Unlike
employment-discrimination class suits under Title & the Americans with Disabilities
Act that are governed by Rule 23, Congress createdique form of collective actions
for minimum-wage and overtime pay claims brougthdemthe FLSA.
* * %
Although the right to sue under the FLSA is compémy, “it is nevertheless an
enforcement provision.Id. at 709.Not the least integral aspect of this remedy is the
ability of employees to pool resources in order tgursue a collective action, in
accordance with the specific balance struck by Comgss. The particular FLSA
collective action mechanism was additionally a Comgssional determination
regarding the allocation of enforcement costs, ahé ability of employees to bring
actions collectively reduces the burden borne by thpublic fisc ... See 83 Cong. Rec.
9264. Moreover, prohibition of the waiver of the rght to proceed collectively
accords with the Congressional policy of uniformitywith regard to the application
of FLSA standards, see H. Rep. No. 2182, 75th Cong., 3d Sess. at 6—7, dexe an
13
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employer is not permitted to gain a competitive adantage because his employees
are more willing to assent to, or his human resoues department more able to
ascertain, collective action waivers than those dfis competitors. As the Supreme
Court has noted, “the purposes of the Act require hat it be applied even to those
who would decline its protections.”Alamo Foundation v. Secretary of Labor, 471 U.S.
290, 105 S.Ct. 1953, 85 L.Ed.2d 278 (1985). It istrenough to respond that such a
waiver should be upheld in the name of the broad teeral policy favoring
arbitration, simply because the waiver was includedh an arbitration agreement. An
otherwise enforceable arbitration agreement shouldnot become the vehicle to
invalidate the particular Congressional purposes othe collective action provision
and the policies on which that provision is based'*?

FN13. Indeed, were employers beyond Citi to embthese waivers, the deluge
of individual wage and hour claims that would béitaated, notwithstanding
those that would simply be forgone absent colleivon, would quite obviously
run counter to the values of simplicity, expedieraned cost-saving that underlie
the federal policy preference for arbitratiddee, e.g., Mitsubish#73 U.S. at
3354.

In sum, a waiver of the right to proceed collediuender the FLSA is unenforceable as a

matter of law in accordance with ti&&Imer Court's recognition that “[b]y agreeing to

arbitrate a statutory claim, a party does not fattge substantive rights afforded by the

statute.”Gilmer, 500 U.S. at 26.

Raniere v. Citigroup Inc2011 WL 5881926, *15-*17 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011)

D. The FLSA’s Purposes Are Not “Trumped” By The FAA and Collective Action
Waivers Are Not “Uniformly” Approved.

The Courts have never held that the FAA trumps FligAts. The Supreme Court has
held that FLSA rights and the federal policy fangriarbitration are not inconsiste@ilmer v.
Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp00 U.S. 20, 28 (1991)(ADEA claims arbitrablBut, the FLSA,
as a federal remedial statute, enacted by Congrféssthe FAA, certainly cannot be read as
being “trumped” by the earlier statute. Furthermattee policy of the FAA to encourage
arbitration as an alternative forum for hearingrolg does not mean that every self-serving term
an employer wishes to impose on employees is btwie enforced by a court, merely because
the term is placed in an arbitration clause.

As set forth above, Congress crafted the FLSA telmmate the conditions that resulted
when employers and employees were free to “bargeigérding hourly pay, overtime work, and

14
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child labor. The FLSA was first enacted 1938, twelears after the Federal Arbitration Act
(1925). The collective action process was instaitethe FLSA in 1947.Thus, as a matter of
statutory construction, the collective action psxef the FLSA, as a specific later-enacted
provision, must be deemed to apply over any contpaovision of the FAA and not the other
way aroundSee Smith v. Robinsof68 U.S. 992, 1024 (1984).

Furthermore, there is no inherent incongruity betw¢he FAA and the FLSA as the
Supreme Court has noted @Gilmer, supra.since FLSA cases can be heard in arbitration. The
inconsistency here, however, is between WMC’s Atioin on Plaintiffs’ FLSA rights in the
arbitration clause it drafted and the enforcemeheme crafted by Congress in the FLSA. WMC
may argue that striking the clause is contrarhtofederal policy favoring arbitration. While that
policy is broad, it does not extend to overridiegnedial statutes enacted by Congress after the
enactment of the FAA. There is nothing in the FAxattprohibits this Court from refusing to
enforce an arbitration clause drafted by WMC thanflicts with the enforcement scheme
Congress enacted in the FLSA. The mere fact thatONt the class waiver into its arbitration
clause does not render that clause effective.

WMC argues that collective action rights can bewedj as a matter of federal arbitration
law, end of story. But the notion that the FAA pasmWMC to subvert the FLSA at its
discretion is a vast oversimplification based ovesal erroneous contentions. First, Defendant
erroneously claims “all five Federal Circuit Coutteat have considered agreements requiring
individual employee arbitration have determinedhspiovisions are enforceabldef. Brf. p. 5.
This is not true. Class action waivers have beencktby the First, Second, and Eleventh

Circuits. (And the Ninth Circuit has invalidatecs$ waivers on state unconscionability grounds.

" The FLSA must be given effect over any conflictiegding of the FAA, under “the familiar
principle of statutory construction that confligirstatutes should be interpreted so as to give
effect to each but to allow a later enacted, mpeeiic statute to amend an earlier, more general
statute only to the extent of the repugnancy betwibe two statutesSmith v. RobinsqQri68

U.S. 992, 1024 (1984).
15



Case: 3:11-cv-00779-bbc Document #: 22 Filed: 01/03/12 Page 16 of 37

Ting v. AT&T,319 F.3d 1126 (®Cir. 2003)cert. den540 U.S. 811.) These Courts look to the
federal statutory purposes and determine on almasase basis, whether a class waiver permits
full vindication of the federal statute as requitedthe Supreme CoulGilmer, supra, Misubishi
Motors, supra.The Seventh Circuit has not yet ruled on the peequestion, however, Seventh
Circuit law on denying arbitration where it is toostly suggest that the Court is in accord with
the First, Second, and Eleventh Circuits. Secorefeant erroneously claims the Supreme
Court in Gilmer held that the FAA permitted collective action waseDef. Brf. p.6.In fact
Gilmer did not “hold” anything about class or collectivetian waivers, as the Supreme Court
noted that “[tjhe NYSE rules also provide for cotige proceedings.Gilmer,500 U.S. at 32. So
that issue was not before the Court. Finally, thees cited by the Defendant DO NOT suggest
that the federal courts allow class or collectiggan waivers no matter what the circumstances.
The First, Second, and Eleventh Circuits have neld lthat class action waivers that
interfere with the statutory enforcement schemenotiatand. (And other Courts have invalidated
class waivers for other reasons, such as that lthese is unconscionably one-sidddng v.
AT&T, 319 F.3d 1126 (9th Cir. 2008prt. den.540 U.S. 811). IrKristian v. Comcast Corp.
446 F.3d 25 (1st Cir.2006), the First Circuit adderl the enforceability of arbitration
agreements invoked by Comcast against a group stoBosubscribers suing Comcast for
violations of state and federal antitrust lald. at 29. The Boston subscribers argued the
arbitration agreement prevented them from vindigatiheir statutory rights by, among other
things, prohibiting the use of the class mechanldmat 37. In deciding whether the class action
waiver was valid, the First Circuit first noted tHthe legitimacy of the arbitral forum rests on
the presumption that arbitration provides a faid adequate mechanism for enforcing statutory
rights.” Id. at 54 (internal quotation omitted). The court fduhat the bar on class arbitration
threatens this presumption given the “complexity aof antitrust case generally, and the

complexity and cost required to prosecute a casensiy Comcast specifically.fd. at 58.
16



Case: 3:11-cv-00779-bbc Document #: 22  Filed: 01/03/12 Page 17 of 37

“[W]ithout some form of class mechanism-be it clasgion or class arbitration-a consumer
antitrust plaintiff will not sue at all.Id. at 58. The court struck down the class arbitrataiver,
concluding that “Comcast [would] be essentiallyesied from private consumer antitrust
enforcement liability, even in cases where it ha¢ated the law.”ld. at 61. “Plaintiffs [would]
be unable to vindicate their statutory rights [atit§ social goals of federal and state antitrust
laws [would] be frustrated because of the ‘enforestrgap’ created by the de facto liability
shield.”ld. at 61.

In the Second Circuit, class or collective actiomwers are also unenforceable when the
practical effect of the waiver is to immunize trefehdant from liability and preclude individuals
from enforcing their statutory rightdn re American Express Merchants Litig. (Amex554 F.
3d 300, 321 (2d Cir. 2009) (denying enforcementlags waiver that precluded vindication of
statutory rights)jud. vac.130 S.Ct. 2401 (2010)eaffirmed, In re American Express Merchants
Litig. (“Amex II”), 634 F.3d 187, 189 (2d Cir. 2011) (upholding regctof class waiver in
Amex )% In theAmex llitigation, the Circuit identified five factors tme considered by Courts in
deciding whether to enforce class waivers:

[1] the fairness of the provisions, [2] the costato individual plaintiff of

vindicating the claim when compared to the plafistifecovery, [3] the

ability to recover attorneys’ fees and other caamtsl thus obtain legal

representation to prosecute the underlying cla#itje practical [e]ffect

the waiver will have on a company’s ability to eggain unchecked

market behavior, and [5] related public policy cems.

Amex ) 554 F.3d at 321. IMmex I,based in part on evidence showing that the pfésnti
individual statutory claims ranged in potentialaeery from a median of approximately $5,252

to a high end of $38,549, the Second Circuit deitggththat these claims could not reasonably

be pursued as individual actions when taking intooant the associated costs of litigation.

® See also Sutherland v. Ernst & Young, LN®. 10 Civ. 3332(KMW), 2011 WL 838900, *5-*7
(S.D.N.Y. March 3, 2011) (applyingmex Ito invalidate collective action waiver that degav

employee of ability to enforce FLSA rights).
17
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Amex ] 554 F.3d at 317, 321. In sum, the Circuit Ceoricluded that enforcement of the class
waiver would grant the defendant “de facto immuhityy removing the plaintiffs’ only
reasonable means of recovery, reasoning:

[P]laintiffs have demonstrated the necessity of satass mechanism in
order to bring their claims against Amex. This destration . . . depends
upon a showing that the size of recovery receivgday individual
plaintiff will be too small to justify the expendite of bringing an
individual action.

Id. at 320 (emphasis in original). The Court fouhdttwhere the size of recovery of any
potential member of the class would be too smaljusiify the expenditure of bringing an
individual action, the class waiver is unenforceadn to the entire class.

In Amex Il,the Second Circuit reaffirmed its holding that abitsation class waiver
cannot stand if it precludes enforcement of stayutights.

As we did earlier, we find “Amex has brought noises challenge to the plaintiffs'
demonstration that their claims cannot reasonal@lypbrsued as individual actions,
whether in federal court or in arbitratiorrf re Am. Express54 F.3d at 319. We again
conclude “that enforcement of the class action wain the Card Acceptance Agreement
‘flatly ensures that no small merchant may chalkenmerican Express's tying
arrangements under the federal antitrust lawsd. 'Eradicating the private enforcement
component from our antitrust law scheme cannot batwongress intended when it
included strong private enforcement mechanismsiaeehtives in the antitrust statutes.
See Reiter v. Sonotone Corpp42 U.S. 330, 344, 99 S.Ct. 2326, 60 L.Ed.2d @319)
(“[p]rivate suits provide a significant supplemeatthe limited resources available to the
Department of Justice for enforcing the antitrastd and deterring violations.”)

Thus, as the class action waiver in this case predes plaintiffs from enforcing their
statutory rights, we find the arbitration provision unenforceable.The two caveats we
articulated in our original opinion still applin re Am. Expressb54 F.3d at 320. Our
decision in no way relies upon the status of pifitnas “small” merchants. We rely
instead on the need for plaintiffs to have the oppity to vindicate their statutory
rights. In this case, the record demonstratesthigasize of any potential recovery by an
individual plaintiff will be too small to justifyhe expense of bringing an individual
action. Moreover, we do not conclude here thatsclastion waivers in arbitration
agreements are per se unenforceable. We also dohaidt that they are per se
unenforceable in the context of antitrust actidRather, we hold that each case which
presents a question of the enforceability of asclastion waiver in an arbitration
agreement must be considered on its own meriterged with a healthy regard for the
fact that the FAA *“is a congressional declaratidnaoliberal federal policy favoring
arbitration agreements.”

18
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Id., 634 F.3d at 199 (emph. added).
The Eleventh Circuit has reached a similar resutha First and Second CircuitsDale
v. Comcast Corp498 F.3d 1216, 1224 (11th Cir. 2007)Dale, the Court held:
The cost of vindicating an individual subscribeafaim, when compared to his or her
potential recovery, is too great. Additionally, base the Cable Act does not provide for
the recovery of attorneys' fees or related costs tf@ violations alleged by the
subscribers, and because state law allows fees@std to be awarded only where bad
faith is shown, it will be difficult for a singleuscriber to obtain representation. This will
allow Comcast to engage in unchecked market behatiat may be unlawful.
Corporations should not be permitted to use clagsrawaivers as a means to exculpate
themselves from liability for small-value claims.
Id. The Eleventh Circuit then adopted the five factmst tset forth irAmex |.While these cases
do not deal with the FLSA specifically, they clgasuggest that a Court must evaluate whether
the underlying statutory purposes can be servedevemforcing a class waiver. In the present
case, as set forth above, the FLSA’s enforcemehémse would be severely undercut by
enforcing an employer’s collective action waiveewHf any current employees would be willing
to risk their jobs and few if any current or pastptoyees of WMC would risk their careers to
bring these claims. Few if any former employees Iddoe willing to bring their claims
individually without the benefits of cost pooling & collective action and few if any lawyers are
available for individual litigation against a cormyawvho has stacked the deck against employees
in arbitration. The end result of this is that ampéoyer such as WMC can engage in “unchecked
market behavior” in derogation of the FLSA’'s renadpurposes and WMC can thereby
undercut its competition.
The Seventh Circuit has not considered the quesifowhether the FLSA's remedial
purposes forbid an employer to condition employnmnthe waiver of FLSA collective action
rights. However, the Seventh Circuit’s decision8aumann v. Finish Line, Inc421 Fed.Appx.

632, 635, 2011 WL 1627159, *3 (7th Cir. 2011) akadnes v. McDonald's Corpil7 F.3d 672,

678-80 (7th Cir. 2005)onsidering whether costs are prohibitive or eeemparable to what
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would obtain in Court, suggest that it would algplst the Amex Ifive factors (ensuring that
statutory claims can be readily brought). Wheréviddal arbitration costs would have the effect
of precluding a remedy that Congress intended Her ELSA, Courts should not enforce the
private employer’'s purposes in evading the law d2engress’s goals that violations of the
FLSA rights of all covered workers be remedied.

WMC ignores these cases, and instead contenddivbaCircuit Court decisions have
permitted employers to mandate arbitration of FL&#ims on an individual basisBut WMC
has either overstated or misstated the holdingsagh of these cases. In each of the five cases
cited, the Courts found, as the Supreme Court ha@ilmer, supra,that arbitration of FLSA
claims was required by the FAA. None of these camemn considered the Congressional
purposes underlying the FLSA and the degree to lwihie collective action procedure of
8216(b) is integral to enforcement of the statiNene of these cases evaluates whether a
requirement that arbitrations be handled indiviualould in fact prevent the vast majority of
such claims from being litigated. None of theseesasvaluated the concerns expressed by the
First, Second, and Eleventh Circuits, as descrétrxle.

In the Horenstein v. Mortgage Markedind Carter v. Countrywidedecisionscited by
Defendantthe Courts found that since the Supreme Court leédi FLSA claims were arbitrable
and since an arbitration agreement necessarilyadaoollective action rights, th@bso facto
class action waivers of FLSA claims are permitted tbe Supreme Court. Interestingly,
collective action procedures are not inherentlyompatible with arbitration and at least some

AAA arbitrators have approved collective actionsl éimose decisions have been affirmed by the

Defendant citetiorenstein v. Mortgage Market, In@,Fed. Appx. 618 (9th Cir. 2001Garter

v. Countrywide Credit Indus362 F.3d 294 (5th Cir. 2004Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc303
F.3d 496 (# Cir. 2002)(class arbitration waiver supported bynsideration), Caley v.
Gulfstream Aero. Corp428 F.3d 1359 (11th Cir. 20059yjlches v The Travelers Companies,
Inc.,413 Fed. Apx. 487 (3d Cir. 2011)(cll arbitrationivex not unconscionable).
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Courts.See Veliz v. CintafNo. C 03-1180, 2009 WL 1766691 (N.D.Cal. JuneZZi)9). Thus,
Horenstein v. Mortgage Markeind Carter v. Countrywideare simply based on the faulty
assumption that a collective action is inherentigompatible with arbitration, and thus if the
Supreme Court approved FLSA cases being hearditradion, then collective action waivers
must necessarily be permitted. The reasoningdofensteinand Carter are therefore faulty.
Neither case looks to the FLSA'’s statutory purposeshe history of the collective action
process and its intended purposes.

Similarly in Vilches, and Caley, the Courts did not analyze whether the FLSA’s
enforcement scheme prohibited collective actionvess. The Courts in these cases only found
that the class waivers there were not unconscienabider New Jersey and Georgia law
respectively — state law questions that simplyrartein issue here. IAdkins v Labor Ready Inc.,
303 F.3d 496, the Court only held that FLSA claians arbitrable — a position not in dispute
here.

Furthermore, the Eleventh Circuit’'s decisionDale v. Comcast Corp498 F.3d 12186,
1224 (11th Cir. 2007), significantly altered theliea holding inCaleycited by WMC. InDale,
the Circuit held that “IrCaley,we determined only that under the specific faétthat case, the
DRP prohibiting class actions was enforceable tinat every class action waiver is enforceable
under Georgia law. We did not consider a factuahado in which a remedy was effectively
foreclosed because of the negligible amount ofwegowhen compared to the cost of bringing
an arbitration action.” 498 F.3d at 1221. Thus, Hieventh Circuit has now held that class
waivers are noper sepermitted, but rather must be evaluated on the saiteria that were
adopted by the Second Circuifsnexdecisions and the First Circuitgistian decision:

We thus conclude that the enforceability of a patéir class action waiver in an

arbitration agreement must be determined on alogsmse basis, considering the totality

of the facts and circumstances. Relevant circuestamay include, but are not limited

to, the fairness of the provisions, the cost toiratividual plaintiff of vindicating the

claim when compared to the plaintiff's potentialaeery, the ability to recover attorneys'
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fees and other costs and thus obtain legal repsan to prosecute the underlying

claim, the practical affect the waiver will have ancompany's ability to engage in

unchecked market behavior, and related public pa@ancerns.
Id., 498 F.3d at 1224,

In the present case, applying the five factor sestforth inKristian, Amex land Dale,
must result in denying enforcement of the arbibratlause. First, the provisions are not “fair” in
that they preclude litigation of remedial statutetgims, in that they increase costs overall and
then force a plaintiff to bear arbitral expenseat thy AAA rules are expenses that should be
borne by the vastly better funded employer, in thay require current employees to stick their
necks out or forego their claims, in that they twe@n obstacle to group cooperation such as
sharing witnesses, documents, costs. In sum, thigamprocess as established by WMC entirely
in its interest, tips the playing field from howwas leveled by Congress.

Second, as set forth in detail in Point One, Pifinll need to pay $14,000 or more up
front in order to collect her back pay. Plaintifilvbe required to pay sums in advance far out of
line with what would be required in Court — sums dloes not have. And Plaintiff will not know,
until the case is concluded, just how expensivératton will end up being for her.

Third, while Plaintiff has the ability to recoverds and other costs if she prevails, it is the
risk of losing that makes arbitration prohibitivetxpensive. This alone makes arbitration an
impermissible forum. However, a further aspect lué tarbitral costs also renders the clause
unenforceable. Without cost pooling, without theligbto engage in full discovery, without
access to the many employee witnesses that comiés avicollective action, without the
possibility of a fee multiplier that could resutbofn a common fund recovery, with the very real
possibility that an arbitrator will award less thanl fees for a small dollar recovery in an
individual case, with litigation against a largeslifunded bank that has crafted the playing rules
in its favor, Plaintiffs’ counsel believe there &eev if any lawyers willing to bring claims even if

any Plaintiffs are willing to engage an employer fiieen to twenty thousand dollars each. So,
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the practical effect of this waiver is to make thase entirely unattractive to the counsel who
would normally bring such a case, thereby furthexcluding litigation against itGetman Decl.
Ex. 5 hereto, 6.

Fourth, it cannot be doubted that a collectivececfand class action on state rights) will
yield participation rates far higher than what witicur if each individual has to file an individual
arbitration and pay the individual fees set fottio\ze. Obviously, if individuals cannot or do not
file individual arbitrations, then the company wbk able to engage in “market behavior” not in
conformity with the statute. Even if it can resothe one or two claims that do get brought for a
fraction of its cost savings, WMC will have evadbad FLSA'’s full effect and obtained an illicit
advantage over its competitors at the expenses ehiiployees.

Fifth, the FLSA’s goal of comprehensive coverag# be lost in arbitration. WMC will
be able to underpay its workforce, thereby gairdngpmpetitive advantage over its law-abiding
competitors, which will create a further incentif@ them to violate the law. Mortgage
companies throughout the U.S. will face similargsige to short their loan officers’ pay, thereby
driving down wages and working conditions throughtbie industry.

The First, Second, and Eleventh Circuit’'s decisiorisristian v. Comcast CorpAmex |,
Amex || andDale v. Comcast Corpespectively require a Court to evaluate the totality of the
circumstances of whether a class waiver subveetstbstantive Congressional purposes behind
the statute being enforced. Here, WMC's class wailearly subverts application of the FLSA
to “all” of WMC'’s loan officer workforce and thuslows it to impose substandard employment
terms, contrary to the FLSA’s remedial purposes &mdhe disadvantage of law-abiding
competitorsRaniere v. Citigroup In¢No. 11 Civ. 2448, 2011 WL 5881926, *15-*17 (S.DYN
Nov. 22, 2011). The FLSA prohibits a private empldy subversion of the Congressional intent
that all affected workers be able to bring an actioat through the mechanism of a “private

attorney general” collective action suit broughtctlectively enforce employees’ FLSA rights.
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For this reason alone, the arbitration clause iragdsy WMC must be stricken.
POINT THREE
AN EMPLOYER’S RESTRICTION OF EMPLOYEE CLASS AND COL LECTIVE
ACTION RIGHTS IS PROHIBITED BY §7 AND 88 OF THE NLR A AND IS NOT
ENFORCEABLE BY THIS COURT.

A. Prohibitions on Class or Collective Actions Addressag Wages and Working
Conditions Violates the National Labor Relations At

Section 7 of the NLRA provides:

Employees shall have the right to self-organizatiom form, join, or assist labor
organizations, to bargain collectively through esantatives of their own choosing, and to
engage inother concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining ather
mutual aid or protection, and shall also have the right to refrain from anll of such
activities except to the extent that such right rbayaffected by an agreement requiring

membership in a labor organization as a conditfoengployment as authorized in section
158(a)(3) of this title.

29 U.S.C.A. 8 157 (emphasis added). Under SectiointBe NLRA, it is an unfair labor practice
“to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employaeshie exercise of the rights guaranteed in section
157...." 29 U.S.C.A. §158(a)(1).

"[A] lawsuit filed in good faith by a group of employees to achieveeriavorable terms
or conditions of employmenms ‘concerted activity' under 8 7 under the Natiorabdr Relations
Act." Brady v. National Football League&g44 F.3d 661, 673 (8th Cir. 201{¢mphasis in
original) (citingMohave Elec. Co-op Inc. v. NLRE)6 F.3d 1183, 1188 n.8 (D.C. Cir. 2000);
Altex Ready Mixed Concrete v. NLRB2 F.2d 295, 297 (5th Cir. 197@)eviton Mfg. Co. v.
NLRB, 486 F.2d 686, 689 {1Cir. 1973)). The NLRB has determined, and cousgehagreed,
that class actions constitute a form of conceria by employees when those suits address
wages or working conditiondrinity Trucking & Materials Corpg 221 NLRB 364, 365 (1975),
enfd. mem567 F.2d 391 (7th Cir. 1977), cert. denied 438.19% (1978);see also, United

Parcel Service252 NLRB 1015 (1980)nfd. 677 F.2d 421 (6th Cir. 1982paigon Gourmet
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353 NLRB 1063 (2009)127 Restaurant Corp. D/B/Re Madri Restaurant331 NLRB 269
(2000), and others. Thus, an arbitration agreemenlause that, by its express or implied terms,
precludes class actions by employees to enforceevaag hour laws is unlawful pursuant to
Sections 7 and 8 of the NLRA. Such a ban wouldwhllly prevent employees from engaging
in concerted activity to improve their wages andikarking conditions. Because the object of
such an arbitration agreement or clause is unlawtfig void and unenforceable by any court.

1. Class Actions Constitute a Form of Concerted &ivity for Mutual Aid
and Protection Protected by the NLRA.

The NRLA protects all forms of concerted activity bmployees to improve wages or

working conditions:

Section 7 of the Act extends to employee efforts ithprove terms and conditions of
employment or otherwise improve their lot as empésy/through channels outside the
immediate employee-employer relationshigastex, Inc. v. NLRB437 U.S. 556, 565
(1978). Section 7 thus specifically affords pratttto employees “when they seek to
improve working conditions through resort to admiirdtive and judicial forums.Id. at
566. The Court inEastex supra underscored that the express language of Section
protects concerted activities for the broad purpoté'mutual aid or protection,” in
addition to concerted activity for “self-organizail’ and “collective bargaining.ld. at
565.

52nd St. Hotel Associate321 NLRB 624, 633 (1996). The broad rights camigrby Section 7
encompass pursuit of civil lawsuits. “It is welktéed that the filing of a civil action by employee
is protected activity unless done with malice obad faith.”In Re 127 Rest. Corp331 NLRB
269, 275 (2000), citingrinity Trucking & Materials Corp 221 NLRB 364, 365 (1975) and
Host International 290 NLRB 442, 443 (1988). As stated by the NLRBinity:

In regard to the Section 7 rights of employeesdilcivil actions against their employer,
the Board inLeviton Manufacturing Company, Inaeiterated the applicable principle
that the filing of the civil action by a group aheloyees is protected activity unless done
with malice or in bad faith.

Trinity, 221 NLRB 364, 365 (1975¢nfd. mem567 F.2d 391 (7th Cir. 1977)ex.
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denied438 U.S. 914 (1978f Employees may engage in concerted activitiesteir mutual aid
or protection without the existence of a uniBnady v. NFL,644 F.3d 661, 671 (8th Cir. 2011);
In Re 127 Rest. Corp331 NLRB 269, 275 (2000).
Collective Action Suits under the Fair Labor StaxdaAct are one type of concerted
activity recognized as protected by the NLRA to$hene degree as class actions:
The Board and the courts have long held that canofuemployees to vindicate rights to
payment for overtime work, and availing themselaéshe safeguards of the Fair Labor
Standards Act, is protected, concerted activityenrfection 7 of the Act. See, e Bloss
Planing Mill Co, 103 NLRB 414, 418-419 (1953), enfd. 206 F.2d $h Cir. 1953);
Poultrymen's Service Corp4l NLRB 444, 462-463 (1942), enfd. 138F.2d 2214) (3d
Cir. 1943);Lion Brand Mfg. Cq 55 NLRB 798, 799 (1944), enfd. 146 F.2d 773 Gih
1945);Cristy Janitorial Service271 NLRB 857 (1984)Triangle Tool & Engineering226

NLRB 1354, 1357 fn. 5 (1976Jpseph De Rario, DMD, P.A283 NLRB 592, 594 (1987);
andNu Dawn Homes289 NLRB 554, 558 (1988).

52nd St. Hotel Associate321 NLRB at 633.

For the purposes of Section 7, class actions a&ae no differently than collective
actions under the FLSA. IHarco Trucking, LLC and Scott Woo844 NLRB 478, 479 (2005),
the NLRB found that the respondent violated Sec8@)(1) of the NLRA by refusing to hire
Wood because he filed a class action lawsuit ag&iasco. See also, Trinity Trucking221
NLRB at 365 andHost International 290 NLRB at 443.

Harco Truckingis but one in a long line of decisions, over maegaties, finding that

class, collective, and even individual actions iou@ addressing wages constitute concerted

9 The NLRB has repeatedly held that the filing ofiwl action by or on behalf of a group of
employees constitutes protected activity underi@edt. E.g., Harco Trucking, LLC344 NLRB
478, 481 (2005) (class action filed by one emplpybere 127 Restaurant Corp331 NLRB
269, 275-76 (1996) (joint action by 17 employe&®);Street Hotel Asso821 NLRB 624, 633-
636 (2000) (collective actionHost International, 290 NLRB 442, 443 (1988) (joint action by
seven employeesYnited Parcel Serv., Inc252 NLRB 1015, 1018 (1980) (class action filed by
one employee)Trinity Trucking & Materials Corp.221 NLRB 364, 365 (1978) (civil action by

three employees). T
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activity protected by the NLRA. Im Re 127 Rest. Corp. d/b/a Le Madri Restaur@8t NLRB
269, 275-276 (2000), the NLRB found that an emplaydawfully discharged employees for
engaging in Section 7 activity, including filing lawsuit in federal court on behalf of other
employees, alleging violations of fedeeald state labor laws. IIMohave Electric Cooperatiye
327 NLRB 13 (1998), enfd. 206 F.3d 1183 (D.C. Q000), the NLRB determined that two
employees were engaged in protected concertedtgetien, pursuant to a common concern for
workplace safety, they both petitioned for injuretirelief against harassment. 38nd Street
Hotel Associates D/B/A Novotel New Y,8R1 NLRB 624, 633-636 (1996), the NLRB found that
an opt-in class action lawsuit alleging employeglations of the Fair Labor Standards Act was
protected concerted activity. IHost International 290 NLRB 442, 442-443, 445 (1988), the
NLRB found that an employee’s filing of a civil fexl court lawsuit concertedly with other
employees, claiming that their employer had physicassaulted, searched, detained and
interrogated them in violation of their constitutéd and statutory rights, constituted Section 7
activity. In United Parcel Service252 NLRB 1015, 1018, 1022, fn.26 (1980), enfd7 &72d
421 (6th Cir. 1982), the NLRB found that the employiolated the Act by discharging an
employee for filing a class action lawsuit regagdmest breaks. IBaigon Gourmet353 NLRB
1063, 1064 (2009), the Board found that concertadberting wage and hour claims is protected
concerted activity. The overwhelming body of NLRBctions leaves no doubt that class and
collective actions constitute concerted action bygpleyees to address wages or working
conditions.

The foundational purpose of the NLRA is to guarartteat employees are empowered to

band together to advance their work-related interas a collective basis. A mandatory arbitration
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agreement that prohibits all class, collective angdint employee efforts to obtain redress for
violation of employment law necessarily inhibitsofgcted concerted activity in violation of

Section 7 of the NLRA.

2. Class and Collective Actions Are QuintessentiaActivities to be
Protected by the NLRA.

Employees bring class, collective, and joint actioather than individual cases for the
same reason they engage in any other form of se€tiactivity: When it comes to employer
retaliation, there is safety in numbers. The rigketaliation is especially poignant for the low-
wage workers such as in this case, due to thegrignce on each pay check and their tendency
to work in low-skilled jobs where employers toodguently consider them expendable. Class
actions protect employees who wish to challengeipdove their working conditions from the
retaliation that often follows from pursuit of amdividual action. Conte & Newburdyewburg
on Class Actions§ 24.61 (4* Ed. 2002). Courts have repeatedly reizagl that employees who
bring individual actions against their employers aigreater risk of retaliation than those who
participate in class actionSee, e.g.Ansoumana v. Gristede's Operating Co0;1 F.R.D. 81,
85-86 (S.D.N.Y 2001)ngram v. Coca-Cola Co200 F.R.D. 685, 701 (N.D. Ga. 200Rgdames
v. Mitsubishi Bank Ltd.133 F.R.D. 82, 89 (E.D.N.Y. 1989laninav. William Penn Parking
Corp.,106 F.R.D. 419, 423-24 (W.D. Pa. 1984). This isaoee a class must be "so numerous
that joinder of all members is impractical.” Fed. ®v. P. 23(a)(1). The breadth of employee
participation in a class action affords class memtee degree of anonymity and cover. An
employee who sticks her neck out to bring an irdiliai claim against his or her employer (either
in court or in arbitration) makes a visible targAt. least such employees perceive a risk of

retaliation. That is why current employees verydsel participate in legal actions as a named
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plaintiff.'* The fear of retaliation and the stress of goingvtwk every day in conflict with the
employer is more than most current employees cau. elass and collective actions help
alleviate these concerns and allow current empkoyedring their claims while not being in the
spotlight. Class and collective actions are thulyta form of "mutual aid and protection” under
section 7.

Class actions educate and empower workers in the &y as other section 7 activities.
Some individual workers may not be aware of thegal rights or understand their employer has
violated those rightsSee, e.g., Gentry v. Superior Cout®, Cal. 4' 443, 461, 165 P.3d 556
(2007). These actions typically involve “notice” h summarizes workers’ legal rights. A class
or collective action may reveal a pattern of unlawfeatment that is not evident to a single
employee. Wage and hour laws have complex rulesrdegy the classification of exempt and
nonexempt employees that are difficult for many liyges to understand. Indeed, an employer
may falsely tell its workers that they are not #edi to overtime paySee Gentry42 Cal. &' at
461. Low -wage workers, in particular, may be urnfemwith their rights because they lack
higher education or have limited comprehension mglish. See Wangy. Chinese Daily News,

Inc.,231 F.R.D. 602, 614 (CD. Cal. 2005).
Class actions also allow employees to pool thaimtd and resources for the greater

collective goodPhillips Petroleum v. Shuttd72 U.S. 797, 809 (1985). "[T]he class action & th
only economically rational alternative when a laggeup of individuals . . . has suffered an

alleged-wrong but the damages due to any singigithdéal ... are too small to justify bringing an

" This is also why class action participation ratsge near 99% and collective action opt-in
rates (where an employee must sign her name tetsawishes to pursue her claims) range from
15-30%. According to one survey, the opt-in ratedFUSA collective actions not backed by a
union is generally between 15 and 30 percent. MatthV. Lampe & E. Michael Rossman,
Procedural Approaches for Countering the Dual-FilEHSA Collective Action and State-Law
Wage Class ActignLab. Law. Winter/Spring 2005 311, 313-14. Rates law for various
reasons, including the logistics of opting-in. dtalso well-understood that current employees
fear retaliation and even former employees do nshwo risk their career in an industry on

uncertain litigationCf. Newberg on Class Actior§8:42.
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individual action."In re American Express Merchants Litigatio634 F.3d 187, 194 (2d Cir.
2011); Cf. Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. v. Sperling93 U.S. 165, 170 (1989)(collective actions
permit pooling of resources).

While class actions often involve multiple namedimpiiffs asserting claims on behalf of
a group of employees, a class action initiated ksingle worker is no lesper seprotected
activity under section 7. The Board and the cohage long recognized that concerted activity
includes the actions of one individual if undertaken behalf of a group of employees or in
preparation for subsequent group acti®ae, e.g., International Transp. Sev, IRCNLRB,449
F.3d 160, 166 (D.C. Cir. 2006¥;itizens Inv. Servs, Corp. v. N.L.R.B30 F.3d 1195, 1199
(D.C. Cir. 2005);Phillips Petroleum Co0.339 NLRB 916, 918 (2003). Indeed, the Board has
repeatedly recognized that a single plaintiff classon constitutes concerted activity within the
meaning of section Harco, 344 NLRB at 441UPS,252 NLRB at 1018. The filing of a class
action by a single employee is necessaiybehalf of agroup of employees and preparation
for a subsequent group action intended to be certifiethe court under Rule 23. Such a class
action therefore is by definition concerted actigthin the meaning of section 7.

C. A Contract That Interferes with Concerted Activity in Violation of the NLRA Is
Void.

Unlawful contracts that violate federal law canmat enforced as a matter of federal
common law:

There is no statutory code of federal contract lawt,our cases leave no doubt that illegal
promises will not be enforced in cases controllgdtlie federal law. IrMicMullen v.
Hoffman 174 U.S. 639, 19 S.Ct. 839, 43 L.Ed. 1117 (188%), bidders for public work
submitted separate bids without revealing that they agreed to share the work equally
if one of them were awarded the contract. One efgtarties secured the work and the
other sued to enforce the agreement to share. ®he ©und the undertaking illegal and
refused to enforce it, saying:

“The authorities from the earliest time to the prgsunanimously hold that no
court will lend its assistance in any way towar@sryging out the terms of an
illegal contract. In case any action is broughivimch it is necessary to prove the
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illegal contract in order to maintain the actioauds will not enforce it....1d., at
654, 19 S.Ct., at 845.

“[T]o permit a recovery in this case is in subs&ama enforce an illegal contract,
and one which is illegal because it is against ipyblicy to permit it to stand.
The court refuses to enforce such a contract apdrihits defendant to set up its
illegality, not out of any regard for the defendavito sets it up, but only on
account of the public interesid., at 669, 19 S.Ct., at 851.

The rule was confirmed i@ontinental Wall Paper Co. v. Louis Voight & Sonzs,@212
U.S. 227, 29 S.Ct. 280, 53 L.Ed. 486 (1909), whieeeCourt refused to enforce a buyer's
promise to pay for purchased goods on the grouatdtti® promise to pay was itself part
of a bargain that was illegal under the antitrastd. “In such cases the aid of the court is
denied, not for the benefit of the defendant, betause public policy demands that it
should be denied without regard to the interestsndividual parties.”ld., at 262, 29
S.Ct., at 292.

Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullingt55 U.S. 72, 77-78 (1982%ee also, California v. U,271 F.3d
1377, 1383 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (“Without a doubt, caatual provisions made in contravention of
a statute are void and unenforceable”).

Indeed, even the most blatant breach of a conttaes not allow enforcement of an
unlawful contract contrary to the law:

The Court cannot enforce the parties' subconteetn though CLS through Barbara
Moore, its principal officer, has blatantly violdtehe terms and conditions of the
subcontract with MGC, for it is plainly contrary l@w. See Paul Arpin Van Lines, Inc. v.
Universal Transp. Servs., In©88 F.2d 288, 290 (1st Cir.1993mithy Braedon Co. v.

Hadid, 825 F.2d 787, 790 (4th Cir.1987). The Court fartfinds that MGC is barred from

injunctive relief by the doctrine of unclean hands.

See Johnson v. Yellow Cab Transit,G321 U.S. 383, 387, 64 S.Ct. 622, 88 L.Ed. 814
(1944) (“[A] federal court should not, in an ordipecase, lend its judicial power to a
plaintiff who seeks to invoke that power for thepase of consummating a transaction in
clear violation of law.”);United States v. Felici208 F.3d 667, 670-71 (8th Cir.2000)
(“The doctrine of unclean hands is an equitabletrito that allows a court to withhold
equitable relief if such relief would encourageewnard illegal activity.”).

Morris-Griffin Corp. v. C & L Serv. Corp731 F. Supp. 2d 488, 489-90 (E.D. Va. 208&e also
Williston On Contracts, 812:1; Restatement, Secoh@ontract, 8178.
The foregoing principles of federal common law gpfa arbitration agreements. For

example, inU-Haul Company of California, Inc347 NLRB 375, 377-78 (2006), enfd. 2007 WL
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4165670 (D.C. Cir. 2007), the employer violated tiERA by maintaining a mandatory
arbitration policy that would reasonably be coretiras prohibiting an employee from filing an
unfair labor practice charge with the Board. TheRBLexplained why even an implied suggestion
that the arbitration provision supplanted rightdemthe NLRA was unlawful:

[T]he breadth of the policy language, referencing policy's applicability to causes of
action recognized by “federal law or regulationsyould reasonably be read by
employees to prohibit the filing of unfair laboragtice charges with the Board. Plainly,
the employees would reasonably construe the reshéalieiolations of the National Labor
Relations Act as included among the legal clainogrized by Federal law that are
covered by the policy.

U-Haul Co. of California347 NLRB at 377.

With respect to activity subject to Sections 7 af&e NLRA, courts normally defer to
the exclusive competence of the NLRB. However, wieaforcement of a contract would
violation of the NLRA, that rule of deference t@tNLRB does not apply:

As a general rule, federal courts do not have gigi®n over activity which “is arguably
subject to 8§ 7 or 8§ 8 of the [NLRA],” and they “niakefer to the exclusive competence of
the National Labor Relations BoardSan Diego Building Trades Council v. Garmon
359 U.S. 236, 245, 79 S.Ct. 773, 780, 3 L.Ed.2d {I/®69). See also Garner v.
Teamsters346 U.S. 485, 490-491, 74 S.Ct. 161, 165-164..%8l. 228 (1953). It is also
well established, however, that a federal courténdsty to determine whether a contract
violates federal law before enforcing it. “The paved the federal courts to enforce the
terms of private agreements is at all times exedcisubject to the restrictions and
limitations of the public policy of the United Statas manifested in ... federal statutes....
Where the enforcement of private agreements woelgidlative of that policy, it is the
obligation of courts to refrain from such exertimfgudicial power.”"Hurd v. Hodge 334
U.S. 24, 34-35, 68 S.Ct. 847, 853, 92 L.Ed. 11848) (footnotes omitted).

Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullinsd55 U.S. 72, 83-84 (1982). In other words, beeahe courts
cannot be used as tools to enforce illegal corgralsey must be able to refuse to enforce private
agreements that violate the NLRA. Kaiser, the Supreme Court succinctly explained why the
primary jurisdiction of the NLRB vyields to the jwihl obligation to abstain from enforcement of
illegal agreements:

While only the Board may provide affirmative remesdfor unfair labor practices, a court
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may not enforce a contract provision which violage$8(e). Were the rule otherwise,
parties could be compelled to comply with cont@datises, the lawfulness of which would
be insulated from review by any court.

Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullingl55 U.S. 72, 86 (19835.

The NLRA was first enacted 1935, ten years afterRederal Arbitration Act. As more
fully argued above, the later enacted NLRA musgiven effect over any conflicting reading of
the earlier enacted FAA, under “the familiar prpiei of statutory construction that conflicting
statutes should be interpreted so as to give efte@ach but to allow a later enacted, more
specific statute to amend an earlier, more gerstedilite only to the extent of the repugnancy
between the two statuteSmith v. Robinsgrd68 U.S. 992, 1024 (1984). There is nothing & th
FAA that prohibits this Court from refusing to erde an unlawful arbitration clause drafted by
WMC.

Because the NLRA 887 and 8 prohibit class andectlle action waivers and because
federal law forbids enforcement of a contract thialates the NLRA, the arbitration clause

drafted by WMC is unlawful and may not be enforbgahis Court.

12 Even state courts determine whether enforcemeatohtractual provision
would violate the NLRA:

Under federal labor law, the court must interphet tontract provision to determine if the
provision violates the NLRA, before enforcing adfinnder the contractual provision.
Kaiser Steel455 U.S. at 83-84, 102 S.Ct. at 859-60, 70 L.Ec®2843-44;Scofield v.
NLRB(1969), 394 U.S. 423, 429, 89 S.Ct. 1154, 1158, .F2.2d 385, 393. The courts
cannot enforce a contract that violates the NLBAofield,395 U.S. at 429, 89 S.Ct. at
1158, 22 L.Ed.2d at 393.

Commc'n Workers of Am., Local 5900 v. Bridget2 N.E.2d 195, 199 (Ind. Ct. App. 1987). To

find otherwise would lead to a result abhorrerprieservation of the robust, employee-protective

goals of the NLRA.
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POINT FOUR

THE REMEDY FOR DEFENDANT'S INVALID ARBITRATION CLAU SEISTO
REFUSE ENFORCEMENT OF THE CLAUSE.

The Supreme Court has said that the “primary mepof the FAA is to ensure “that
private agreements to arbitrate are enforced aouptd their terms.Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v.
Bd. Of Trustees}89 U.S. 468, 479 (1989). Thus, if an agreemeatiddrate cannot be enforced
according to its terms, a court should refuse téoree it. When a corporation drafts an
unenforceable contract of adhesion it is not tlepoasibility of a court to rewrite the contract,
and thereby find a legal way for the drafter toogrthe otherwise unobtainable results it sought.
As a comment to the Restatement (Second) of Cdstssates, “a court will not aid a party who
has taken advantage of his dominant bargaining ptawextract from the other party a promise
that is clearly so broad as to offend public pobgyredrafting the agreement so as to make a part
of the promise enforceableld., Sec. 184, Comment b (1981). The Sixth Circuit halsl that
there is a federal policy that courts should netrite or otherwise fix arbitration clauses that
contain illegal terms:

“To sever the costs and fees provision and foreeaimployee to arbitrate a Title VII

claim despite the employer’s attempt to limit tleenedies available would reward the

employer for its actions and fail to deter simianduct by others.Perez v. Globe

Airport Sec. Servs253 F.3d 1280, 1287 (11th Cir.200¥ac’d by294 F.3d 1275 (11th

Cir.2002).But see Gannon v. Circuit City Stor&§2 F.3d 677, 683 n. 8 (8th Cir.2001)

(questioningPerez). Under the contrary approach, an employer “wok be deterred

from routinely inserting such a deliberately illegiause into the arbitration agreement it

mandates for its employees if it knows that the stvg@enalty for such illegality is the
severance of the clause after the employee hgatbtl the matter.”
Cooper v. MRM Investment C867 F.3d 493,512 (6Cir. 2004).

A number of other circuit courts have also refusedrewrite or enforce arbitration
clauses that had one or more unconscionable orvaeeunenforceable provisions, or when the
unenforceable provisions are an integrated patietlauseSee Alexander v. Anthony Int'l Ltd.

Partnership,341 F.3d 256, 271 (3d Cir. 2003) (“The cumulatiffe& of such illegality prevents
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us from enforcing the arbitration agreement. Beeah® sickness has infected the trunk, we
must cut down the entire tree.Hlpoters of America, Inc. v. Phillip4d73 F.3d 933, 940 (4th Cir.
1999) (when the improper provisions of an arbitratclause are “by no means insubstantial,”
Court permits canceling agreemenBraham Oil Co. v. ARCO Products Co., a Div. of Atl.
Richfield Co, 43 F.3d 1244, 1249 (9th Cir. 1994) (“Our decisiorstrike the entire clause rests
in part upon the fact that the offensive provisiatsarly represent an attempt by ARCO to
achieve through arbitration what Congress has sgfpyrdorbidden... Such a blatant misuse of
the arbitration procedure serves to taint the emiause.”)ingle v. Circuit City Stores, Inc328
F.3d 1165, 1180 {® Cir. 2003) (“While it is within this court’s disetion to sever
unconscionable provisions, because an ‘insidiouseqma exists in Circuit City’s arbitration
agreement ‘that functions as a thumb on Circuiy'€iside of the scale should an employment
dispute ever arise between the company and ondsoémployees,” we conclude that the
agreement is wholly unenforceable” (citations oed)); Paladino v. Avnet Computer
Tecnologies, In¢.134 F.3d 1054, 1058 (11th Cir. 1998) (“the pregeof an unlawful provision

in an arbitration agreement may serve to taintahtre arbitration agreement, rendering the
agreement completely unenforceable, not just stipgadicial reformation”).

While the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circugis not addressed this issue, many
courts within the Seventh Circuit have similarlyused to rewrite or enforce arbitration clauses
that had one or more unconscionable or otherwisenfonceable provisions, or when the
unenforceable provisions are an integral part efdlauseSee Popovich v. McDonald's Corp.
189 F.Supp.2d 772 (N.D. lll. 2002) (refusing to@né arbitration agreement because provision
that waived plaintiff's right to recover arbitratiocosts would make arbitration prohibitively
expensive for plaintiff; also refusing to rewritgraement to allow defendant to pay costs);
Plattner v. Edge Solutions, InQ004 WL 1575557 (N.D. Ill. April 1, 2004) (refusj to enforce

arbitration agreement or rewrite by severing uncmmable provisions);ee also,Geiger v.
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Ryan’s Family Steak Houses, Int34 F.Supp.2d 985 (S.D.Ind. 2001).

The federal appeals courts and the District Cowitkin the Seventh Circuit that have
severed unenforceable provisions within arbitratdauses and compelled arbitration have
generally done so when only a single ancillary mion was unenforceable. Here, on the other
hand, there are several clauses that together cenbi‘taint” the agreement as a whdtegle v.
Circuit City Stores, Inc.328 F.3d 1165, 1180 (9th Cir. 2003) (“insidious t@at” within
arbitration agreement ‘that functions as a thumbCancuit City’s side of the scale should an
employment dispute ever arise between the compawly ome of its employees,” [leads to
conclusion] that the agreement is wholly unenfobtea First, is the class and collective action
waiver. Second is the costs provision that havihgsen the arbitral forum which is more
expensive to the employer, then shifts WMC'’s asbitcosts onto Plaintiffs. Third is the
purported indemnity clauses in paragraphs 8 anavhi&h are unilaterally applicable to making
Plaintiffs responsible for Defendant’s legal felbat which do not operate bilaterally. Also, for
the reasons set forth above, and in Plaintiffs’ ibtoto Strike, Docs. 15 and 16, these indemnity
provisions impermissibly interfere with the FLSAh&Se invalid provisions individually and
collectively so tilt the playing field in WMC'’s far that this Court simply cannot enforce the
arbitration clause “according to [its] term&/blt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Bd. Of Truste&9 U.S.
468, 479 (1989).

POINT FIVE

COSTS AND FEES CANNOT BE ASSESSED AGAINST PLAINTIFFS
FOR FILING THIS SUIT.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the full arggnhagainst the assessment of costs and
fees for filing this suit, as set forth in PlaifgifMotion to Strike, Doc. 19.
CONCLUSION
WMC's arbitration agreement cannot be enforced b®eat imposes excessive costs on
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Plaintiffs, because it impermissibly interferestwihe FLSA’s remedial purposes, and because it

violates the NLRA. For each of these reasons, WM$ion to dismiss should be denied.
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